





# Chitinase 3-Like 1 Regulates IL-8 Expression in Airway Epithelial Cells

Jae Woo Lee

## Department of Medical Science

The Graduate School, Yonsei University



# Chitinase 3-Like 1 Regulates IL-8 Expression in Airway Epithelial Cells

Jae Woo Lee

## Department of Medical Science

The Graduate School, Yonsei University



# Chitinase 3-Like 1 Regulates IL-8 Expression in Airway Epithelial Cells

Directed by Professor Myung Hyun Sohn

The Master's Thesis submitted to the Department of Medical Science, the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Science

Jae Woo Lee

June 2021



# This certifies that the Master's Thesis of Jae Woo Lee is approved.

Thesis Supervisor: Myung Hyun Sohn

Thesis Committee Member#1: Kyung Won Kim

Thesis Committee Member#2: Ho Geun Yoon

The Graduate School Yonsei University

June 2021



### Acknowledgement

설레는 마음으로 연세대학교 대학원에 입학한 지도 벌써 2년이라는 시간이 흘러 석사과정을 마무리하게 되었습니다. 그 시간 동안, 많은 분께 도움과 은혜를 받았기에 과학자로서 성장할 수 있었습니다. 감사한 분들께 이 지면을 빌려 감사의 마음을 전합니다.

먼저 저의 학위 과정을 지도해주시고 아낌없는 조언과 가르침을 주셨던 손명현 교수님께 깊은 감사의 말씀을 드립니다. 그리고 연구 결과에 대해 날카로운 지적과 깊은 고찰을 해 주신 김경원 교수님, 저의 주제에 대해 폭넓게 생각할 기회를 주신 윤호근 교수님께도 진심으로 감사의 말씀을 드립니다. 저를 지도해 주신 교수님의 은혜로 제가 한 걸음 더 성장할 수 있었습니다.

늘 저의 실험에 신경 써 주셨던 소아과 연구실 선생님들께도 감사의 말씀을 드립니다. 항상 진심으로 응원해주시고 기초적인 세포 배양을 알려주신 홍정연 선생님, 논문 작성에 도움을 주시고 실험에 큰 도움을 받았던 김미나 선생님, 바쁘신데도 바이러스 배양을 알려주신 김민정 선생님께도 진심으로 감사드립니다. 항상 팩트로 현실적인 조언을 해준 은지 누나에게도 감사드립니다. 그리고 석사 생활 전반에 걸쳐 실험과 논문 등 많은 점을 배울 수 있었던 은결 누나에게 정말 감사드립니다.

대학원 입학에 관해 고민이 많았던 학부 시절, 잦은 면담 신청에도 늘 따뜻한 마음으로 조언을 해 주셨던 안예진



교수님과, 구체적인 진로를 잡을 수 있도록 도와주신 강상욱 교수님께도 진심 어린 감사의 말씀을 드립니다.

연세대학교에서 함께 대학원 생활을 한 수진이와 효정 누나, 용진이 형, 그리고 각자의 분야에서 대학원 생활을 멋지게 해내고 있을 동기 현준이, 시원이, 진수, 종원이에게도 고맙습니다. 그리고 바쁜 일정으로 인해 자주 만나지 못했던 경만이, 수진이, 혜민이, 경화, 덕훈이에게도 고맙습니다. 오랜 친구 남건이, 대원이와 주성이에게도, 힘들 때마다 연락하면 기꺼이 나와 맛있는 음식을 함께 한 성원이, 재승이와 인혁이에게도 고맙습니다. 그리고 제가 늘 믿고 의지한 친구들의 눈부신 미래를 진심으로 응원한다는 말을 전합니다.

언제나 인자한 마음으로 손자를 챙기신 외할머니와 외할아버지, 그리고 항상 응원해 주시는 외가 친척과 친가 친척에 감사 드립니다. 마지막으로, 철부지 막내아들이 학업에 정진할 수 있도록 아낌없는 사랑과 지원을 해 주신 엄마와 아빠, 갖고 싶은 것이 생길 때 금전적으로 큰 힘이 되었던 누나에게 감사하며, 사랑합니다.

그리고 미처 표현하지 못한, 제가 믿고 의지한 다른 모든 분께 깊은 감사의 말씀을 드립니다.

2021년 6월

이 재 우



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT ······1
I. INTRODUCTION ····································
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS ······6
1. Cell culture ······6
2. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) preparation7
3. Treatment7
4. Inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways
5. Lentiviral short hairpin RNA transduction
6. Real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR)9
7. Western blot analysis ·····10
8. Immunofluorescence staining
9. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)12
10. Statistical analysis12
III. RESULTS ······13
1. CHI3L1 expression is elevated by poly(I:C) stimulation in BEAS-
2B cells
2. Expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines is elevated by poly(I:C)
stimulation in BEAS-2B cells17
3. CHI3L1 is involved in poly(I:C) induced IL-8 expression23
4. MAPK pathways contribute to IL-8 expression induced by poly(I:C)
stimulation ······27



5. CHI3L1 regulates phosphorylation of MAPK pathways induced by	
poly(I:C) stimulation	
6. The expressions of CHI3L1 and IL-8 are elevated by RSV infection	
in BEAS-2B cells ······34	
7. CHI3L1 is involved in RSV induced IL-8 secretion37	
IV. DISCUSSION ······40	
V. CONCLUSION ·······44	
REFERENCES ······45	
ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN) ····································	



## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. CHI3L1 expression is increased in poly(I:C) stimulated BEAS-2B cells
Figure 2. Pro-inflammatory cytokines are increased in poly(I:C) stimulated BEAS-2B cells
Figure 3. CHI3L1 deficiency diminished IL-8 expression induced by poly(I:C) stimulation
Figure 4. Inhibition of MAPK pathways decreased IL-8 expression induced by poly(I:C) stimulation
Figure 5. CHI3L1 deficiency diminished phosphorylation of MAPK pathways induced by poly(I:C) stimulation
Figure 6. The expressions of CHI3L1 and IL-8 are increased in RSV infected BEAS-2B cells
Figure 7. CHI3L1 deficiency diminished IL-8 expression induced by RSV infection



#### ABSTRACT

### Chitinase 3-Like 1 Regulates IL-8 Expression in Airway Epithelial Cells

Jae Woo Lee

Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University

#### (Directed by Professor Myung Hyun Sohn)

**Background:** Viral respiratory infection is a leading cause of inflammatory lung disease and mortality. Interleukin (IL)-8, one of the critical inflammatory mediators, has been suggested to induce inflammation against viral infections. Chitinase 3-like 1 (CHI3L1), which belongs to 18-glycosylhydrolase family, contributes to airway inflammation. However, it remains unclear that the role of CHI3L1 in the expression of IL-8 caused by viral infections. Thus, this study was to investigate the role of CHI3L1 in the regulation of IL-8 expression, which was caused by viral infections in bronchial epithelial cells.



**Methods:** Human bronchial epithelial cell line, BEAS-2B, was stimulated with a synthetic analog of viral double-stranded RNA, polyinosinic : polycytidylic acid (poly(I:C)). To explore the role of CHI3L1 in viral infection, CHI3L1 knockdown was performed in BEAS-2B cells by shRNA lentiviral transduction. The expression of CHI3L1 and pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-8, and phosphorylation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways were analyzed. BEAS-2B cells were infected with human respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) A2 strain and the expression levels of CHI3L1 and IL-8 were analyzed.

**Results:** Stimulation of BEAS-2B cells with poly(I:C) increased expression of CHI3L1 and IL-8. However, IL-8 expression was abrogated in CHI3L1 knock-down BEAS-2B cells. Poly(I:C) stimulation of BEAS-2B cells resulted in phosphorylation of MAPK pathways, and inhibitions of MAPK pathways significantly abolished IL-8 secretion. The phosphorylation of MAPK pathways was also diminished in CHI3L1 knock-down BEAS-2B cells. In addition to poly(I:C), infection with RSV increased the expression levels of CHI3L1 and IL-8. The expression of IL-8 induced by RSV infection was abrogated in CHI3L1 knock-down BEAS-2B cells.

**Conclusion:** This study suggests that CHI3L1 is involved in IL-8 secretion by regulating MAPK pathways during viral infections in bronchial epithelial cells.

Key words: airway epithelial cells, chitinase 3-like 1, interleukin-8, MAPK signaling pathways, respiratory syncytial virus



### Chitinase 3-like 1 Regulates IL-8 Expression in Airway Epithelial Cells

Jae Woo Lee

#### Department of Medical Science The Graduate School, Yonsei University

#### (Directed by Professor Myung Hyun Sohn)

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Viral infections are considered the main cause of various diseases worldwide<sup>1</sup>. Notably, respiratory virus infection induces lower respiratory tract infections such as bronchiolitis, laryngotracheobronchitis, or pneumonia<sup>2</sup>. Moreover, the respiratory virus infection can also exacerbate asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)<sup>3-6</sup>. The common respiratory viruses that cause respiratory diseases are known as coronavirus, human rhinovirus, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), and influenza virus. These are RNA viruses in which nucleic acids are composed of RNA and synthesize double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) during replication in the host cells<sup>6-10</sup>. The viral nucleic acid is one of



pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which is recognized by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) such as toll-like receptors (TLRs) and retinoic-acidinducible gene I-like receptors (RLR). For RNA viruses, TLR7 detects singlestranded RNA, besides TLR3 recognizes double-stranded RNA<sup>10,11</sup>. The infected cells that sense viral nucleic acid through their specific receptors induce secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines which evoke antiviral immunity, especially inflammation<sup>12,13</sup>.

Polyinosinic : polycytidylic acid (poly(I:C)) is a synthetic dsRNA analog that has similar molecular patterns with viral nucleic acid and is recognized by TLR3 of host cells<sup>11</sup>. In recent studies, it has been demonstrated that poly(I:C) stimulation induces pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines such as Interleukin(IL)-8 and IL-6<sup>10,11,14</sup>. IL-8 is known as a neutrophil-attracting chemokine, and previous studies demonstrated that IL-8 secretion in airway epithelial cells was induced by German cockroach extract and chitinase<sup>15,16</sup>. Also, IL-8 secretion is increased in bronchoalveolar fluids of patients suffering from asthma, COPD, and bronchiolitis which is caused by respiratory viral infections<sup>17-19</sup>. These results indicate that IL-8 plays a significant role in acute lung inflammation<sup>16</sup>.

In 18-glycosyl-hydrolase family, there are two main groups based on the activity of chitinase. The one is enzymatically active chitinases containing chitotriosidase (CHIT1) and acid mammalian chitinase (AMCase). The other is called chitinase-



like proteins (CLPs) that cannot degrade chitin and are represented by chitinase-3-like 1 (CHI3L1)<sup>20,21</sup>. CHI3L1 is known as YKL-40 in humans, and breast regression protein-39 (BRP-39) in mice<sup>22</sup>. Previous studies have demonstrated that CHI3L1 has been related to several diseases, such as cancers, rheumatoid arthritis, and allergic diseases<sup>23-28</sup>. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that CHI3L1 plays an important role and can be a biomarker for airway inflammation caused by respiratory virus infections. In a previous study, CHI3L1 expression was elevated in nasopharyngeal inhalation of RSV-infected pediatric patients. Also, in vivo studies have demonstrated that airway inflammation by RSV infection was reduced in CHI3L1 knock-out mice by modulating alveolar macrophage polarization<sup>29</sup>. And a recent study demonstrated that CHI3L1 is an attractive therapeutic target in COVID-19<sup>30</sup>. Therefore, CHI3L1 is associated with various inflammatory diseases, and it is now considered to be a biomarker for lung inflammation and a therapeutic target as well<sup>31,32</sup>. Nonetheless, little is known whether CHI3L1 regulates IL-8 secretion against viral infections in bronchial epithelial cells.

Thus, we explored the role of CHI3L1 in IL-8 secretion induced by respiratory viral infections in bronchial epithelial cells.



#### **II. MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 1. Cell culture

Human bronchial epithelial cell line, BEAS-2B was purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA) and cultured in bronchial epithelial cell growth medium, BEGM (Lonza, East Rutherford, NJ, USA). Human lung epithelial cell line, NCI-H292 and A549 (ATCC), and human kidney epithelial cell line, HK2 (ATCC) were grown in RPMI-1640 (Hyclone, Logan, UT, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 100U/mL penicillin/streptomycin (Hyclone). To lentivirus production, human embryonic kidney 293 T cell line, HEK-293 T cell (ATCC) was used. HEK-293 T cells were grown in DMEM (Hyclone) supplemented with 10% FBS and 100U/mL penicillin/streptomycin. To prepare RSV stock, HEp-2 cells (ATCC) were used. HEp-2 cells were grown in MEM (Hyclone) supplemented with 10% FBS and 100U/mL penicillin/streptomycin. The cells were grown in a 37°C humidified incubator consisting of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and the fresh media was replaced every 3 days.



#### 2. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) preparation

The RSV A2 strain was propagated in HEp-2 cells and harvested on 4 days postinfection. The harvested virus was stored at -70°C immediately. Virus titer, plaque-forming units/mL (PFU/mL), was determined with the standard plaque assay<sup>29</sup>.

#### 3. Treatment

For stimulation with poly(I:C), BEAS-2B cells, A549 cells, NCI-H292 cells, and HK2 cells were plated in 6 well cell culture plates or 60mm dishes. The next day, the media was replaced with fresh media and incubated overnight. After the overnight incubation, media was replaced containing 5µg/mL of poly(I:C)-HMW (Invivogen, San Diego, CA, USA). Then the cells were incubated for up to 24 hr. For RSV infection, BEAS-2B cells were plated in 6 well cell culture plate. The next day, the media was discarded and washed with PBS (Hyclone) to remove serum. After washing, RSV absorption to BEAS-2B cells was performed at multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.1 for 1 hr. After absorption of RSV to BEAS-2B cells, the free virus was removed and replaced with fresh media. Then the cells were incubated for up to 24 hr. At specific time points, incubated cells and supernatants were harvested and stored at -70°C until assayed.



#### 4. Inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways

The specific inhibitors of MAPK pathways – extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK1/2) inhibitor (PD98059), p38 inhibitor (SB202190), and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) inhibitor (SP600125) were purchased from Calbiochem (San Diego, CA, USA). Before stimulation with poly(I:C), BEAS-2B cells were pre-incubated for 30 min with the inhibitors. After the pre-incubation, the cells were stimulated with 5µg/mL poly(I:C) along with the inhibitors for 12 hr.

#### 5. Lentiviral short hairpin RNA transduction

CHI3L1 knockdown of BEAS-2B cells was performed by short hairpin RNA (shRNA) lentivirus transduction. For the lentivirus production, the pLKO.1-puro vector containing CHI3L1 shRNA (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) was used for CHI3L1 knock-down, besides an empty vector was used for the control cells. The vectors were transduced into HEK-293 T cell using TransIT-X2<sup>®</sup> Dynamic Delivery System (Mirus Bio, Madison, WI, USA) according to manufactures' protocol. The lentivirus transduction was performed by incubating BEAS-2B cells for 5 hr with the lentivirus and 8µg/mL of polybrene (Sigma-Aldrich) in BEBM. After the incubation, the media was replaced with fresh BEGM and incubated for 3 days. To select shRNA-containing cells, puromycin selection was conducted. For the puromycin (Sigma-Aldrich) and incubated for 3 days.



#### 6. Real-time polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

Total RNA of the harvested cells was isolated with TRIZOL reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) according to an RNA isolation protocol. The quantification of the isolated total RNA was accomplished by Nanodrop (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The 2µg of total RNA was synthesized to cDNA using ReverTra Ace<sup>®</sup> qPCR RT Master Mix Kit (Toyobo Co., Ltd., Osaka, Japan). Real-time PCR was performed using SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). The primer sequences are as follows: IL-8: 5'-GTG CAG TTT TGC CAA GGA GT-3' (forward) and 5'-CTC TGC ACC CAG TTT TCC TT-3' (reverse); IL-6: 5'-TAC CCC CAG GAG AAG ATT CC -3' (forward) and 5'-TTT TCT GCC AGT GCC TCT TT-3' (reverse); IL-1B: 5'-CTG TCC TGC GTG TTG AAA GA-3' (forward) and 5'-TTC TGC TTG AGA GGT GCT GA-3' (reverse); TNF-a: 5'- AAC CTC TCT GCC ATC AA -3' (forward) and 5'- CCA AAG TAG ACC TGC CCA GA-3' (reverse); GAPDH: 5'-AAG GTG AAG GTC GGA GTC AAC-3' (forward) and 5'-GGG GTC ATT GAT GGC AAC AAT A-3' (reverse). GAPDH was used as endogenous control, and relative expressions of each pro-inflammatory cytokine were analyzed using  $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$  method.



#### 7. Western blot analysis

Total protein of harvested cells was extracted by mammalian protein extraction reagent (MPER) supplemented with Halt<sup>™</sup> Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (both from Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to manufacturer's instructions. The extracted total protein was quantified by Bradford protein assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). In western blot analysis using cell supernatants, the total protein of cell supernatants was concentrated with methanol (Duksan Chemicals, Gyeonggi-do, Korea) and chloroform (Sigma-Aldrich). 15-30µg of the quantified protein samples or concentrated protein samples of cell supernatants were electrophoresed using 10% SDS polyacrylamide gel and electrotransferred to a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA). At the end of following every step, the membrane was washed out with 1X tris-based saline buffer supplemented with 1% Tween 20 (Duksan Chemicals) 3 times. Afterward, the membrane was blocked with 5% skim milk (Becton Dickinson, Sparks, MD, USA) and incubated overnight at 4°C with a specific primary antibody diluted in 5% skim milk. The specific primary antibodies as follows: CHI3L1 (Invitrogen) and phosphorylation (p)- ERK 1/2, total (T)-ERK 1/2, p-p38, T-p38, p-JNK, T-JNK, and β-actin (Cell signaling Technology, Beverly, MA, USA). The membrane was incubated with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated second antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA) for 1 hr. The protein bands were visualized using ImageQuant<sup>TM</sup> LAS 4000 Mini Biomolecular Imager



(GE health care, Buckinghamshire, UK) with Chemiluminescence Substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific). For the densitometric analysis of specific protein bands, Image J software (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA) was used.

#### 8. Immunofluorescence staining

BEAS-2B cells were plated in 8-well chamber slides (SPL Life Sciences Co., Gyeonggi-do, Korea) and incubated with 5µg/mL poly(I:C) for 24 hr. After the incubation, the cells were washed with PBS (Hyclone) 3 times and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (Biosesang, Gyeonggi-do, Korea) for 15 min at room temperature. The fixed cells were permeabilizated by incubation in PBS with 1% Triton X-100 (Daejung Chemicals & Metals Co. Ltd., Gyeonggi-do, Korea) for 15 min at room temperature. At the end of following every step, the cells were washed with PBS containing 1% Tween 20 (Duksan Chemicals). Afterward, the cells were blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (Sigma Aldrich) for 1 hr and incubated with anti-CHI3L1 antibody (Invitrogen) and anti-receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) overnight at 4°C. The cells were incubated with Alexa Fluor 647-conjugated donkey antirabbit IgG and Alexa Fluor 555-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG (both from Abcam, Cambridge, UK) for 1 hr at room temperature. After 1 hr incubation, nuclei of the cells were stained with DAPI (4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole;



Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 5 min. The cells were mounted with Dako Faramount Aqueous Mounting Medium Ready-to-use (Dako, Santa Clara, CA, USA). The images of immunofluorescence staining were obtained using LSM 700 confocal microscopes (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). The ZEN software was used to obtain images and process.

#### 9. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

The expression levels of proinflammatory cytokines and CHI3L1 in the cell supernatant were detected by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

#### **10.** Statistical analysis

The data are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean (SEM) of at least three individual experiments. Statistical analysis was evaluated using Student's *t*-test for comparing two groups, and one-way ANOVA with Tukey test for comparing multiple groups. In the statistical significance of differences, *P*value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.



#### **III. RESULTS**

# 1. CHI3L1 expression is elevated by poly(I:C) stimulation in BEAS-2B cells

To reveal whether CHI3L1 is induced by stimulation of viral dsRNA in bronchial epithelial cells, we stimulated BEAS-2B cells with 5µg/mL poly(I:C) for 6 hr, 12 hr, and 24 hr, and analyzed expression levels of CHI3L1 by ELISA and western blot. As shown in Fig. 1A and 1B, poly(I:C) stimulation significantly increased CHI3L1 expression in a time-dependent manner (Fig. 1A and 1B). Also, CHI3L1 expression levels in cell lysates were elevated by poly (I:C) stimulation (Fig. 1C). In an immunofluorescence study, CHI3L1 and its receptor, RAGE, were increased by poly(I:C) stimulation. And the co-localization between CHI3L1 and RAGE was detected in poly(I:C) stimulated cells. Therefore, we demonstrated that CHI3L1 is increased in bronchial epithelial cells during viral infections.

Next, we stimulated A549 cells, H292 cells, and HK2 cells with  $5\mu$ g/mL poly(I:C) to investigate CHI3L1 expression in different cell lines. The expression of CHI3L1 was hardly detected in cell supernatants of A549 cells and NCI-H292 cells but was slightly increased in cell supernatants of HK2 cells by poly(I:C) stimulation (Fig. 1E).







#### (**C**)





**(D**)







Figure 1. CHI3L1 expression is increased in poly(I:C) stimulated BEAS-2B cells. BEAS-2B cells were stimulated with 5µg/mL of synthetic dsRNA, poly(I:C), and the cells were harvested at the end of multiple time points. (A), (B) The expression levels of CHI3L1 in cell supernatants were detected by (A) ELISA and (B) western blot analysis. (C) The protein levels of CHI3L1 in cell lysates were analyzed by western blot analysis (top). Densitometric analysis of CHI3L1 was performed by Image J software (bottom). (D) Immunofluorescence staining images of CHI3L1 and RAGE in BEAS-2B cells were obtained using confocal microscopes (top). Quantification of CHI3L1 with RAGE was measured using the ZEN software (bottom). (E) The protein levels of CHI3L1 in supernatants of A549 cells, H292 cells, and HK2 cells were analyzed by ELISA. The data represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of at least three independent experiments. \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001 comparison between control groups and time-matched poly(I:C) stimulated groups. CHI3L1, chitinase 3-like 1; Poly(I:C), Polyinosinic : polycytidylic acid; RAGE, receptor for advanced glycation end products; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.



# 2. Expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines is elevated by poly(I:C) stimulation in BEAS-2B cells

Following the increased expression of CHI3L1 in BEAS-2B cells by poly(I:C) stimulation, we also investigated whether pro-inflammatory cytokines were induced by poly(I:C) stimulation. The mRNA expression levels of IL-8, IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  were induced by poly(I:C) stimulation (Fig. 2A and 2B). In addition to mRNA expression levels, the secreted protein levels of these cytokines were also increased by poly(I:C) stimulation (Fig. 2C and 2D). In these results, we confirmed that the pro-inflammatory cytokines which are known as important immune mediators in viral infections were induced in bronchial epithelial cells stimulated with poly(I:C).



















(C)













Figure 2. Pro-inflammatory cytokines are increased in poly(I:C) stimulated BEAS-2B cells. BEAS-2B cells were stimulated with 5µg/mL poly(I:C). The cells and supernatants were harvested at the end of multiple time points. (A), (B) The mRNA expression levels of IL-8, IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  were analyzed by real-time PCR. (C), (D) The expression levels of IL-8, IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  in cell supernatants were detected by ELISA. The data represents the mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001 comparison between control group and time-matched poly(I:C) stimulated group. IL, interleukin; TNF- $\alpha$ , tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ ; Poly(I:C), Polyinosinic : polycytidylic acid; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.



#### 3. CHI3L1 is involved in poly(I:C) induced IL-8 expression

To elucidate whether CHI3L1 contributes to pro-inflammatory responses by poly(I:C) stimulation, CHI3L1 expression of BEAS-2B cells was silenced by shRNA lentiviral transduction. As shown in Fig. 3A and 3B, CHI3L1 expression levels of BEAS-2B cells were dramatically abolished by CHI3L1 shRNA. But in cells transfected with control shRNA, CHI3L1 expression levels were increased by poly(I:C) stimulation compared to media-treated cells (Fig. 3A and 3B).

Next, we analyzed the expression levels of IL-8 in shRNA-containing BEAS-2B cells by poly(I:C) stimulation. The mRNA and protein expression levels of IL-8 were diminished in CHI3L1 knock-down BEAS-2B cells, compared to timematched control cells (Fig. 3C and 3D). In these results, we suggest that CHI3L1 contributes to IL-8 secretion induced by poly(I:C) in bronchial epithelial cells.











(**C**)



**(D**)





Figure 3. CHI3L1 deficiency diminished IL-8 expression induced by poly(I:C) stimulation. BEAS-2B cells transfected with control shRNA (shcontrol) or CHI3L1 shRNA (sh-CHI3L1) were stimulated with 5µg/mL poly(I:C). (A) The secreted CHI3L1 levels in supernatants were analyzed by ELISA. (B) The protein levels of CHI3L1 in cell lysates were analyzed by western blot analysis (top). Densitometric analysis of CHI3L1 was performed by Image J software (bottom). (C) The mRNA expression levels of IL-8 were analyzed by real-time PCR (D) The expression levels of IL-8 in cell supernatants were detected by ELISA. The data represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of at least three independent experiments. \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001 comparison between sh-control cells treated with media and poly(I:C).  $\dagger P < 0.05$ ,  $\dagger \dagger P <$ 0.01,  $\dagger \dagger \dagger \dagger P < 0.001$  time-matched comparison between poly(I:C) treated shcontrol cells and sh-CHI3L1 cells. CHI3L1, chitinase 3-like 1; shRNA, short hairpin RNA; IL-8, interleukin-8; n.s, not significant; Poly(I:C), Polyinosinic : polycytidylic acid; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.



# 4. MAPK pathways contribute to IL-8 expression induced by poly(I:C) stimulation

According to our previous observations, we showed that the expression levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines were increased by poly(I:C) stimulation. In previous studies, it has been demonstrated that phosphorylation of MAPK signaling pathways induce the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines against various stimuli<sup>33,34</sup>. Thus, we further investigated that which signaling pathways were involved in IL-8 secretion induced by poly(I:C). As shown in western blot analysis, MAPK signaling pathways - ERK 1/2, p38, and JNK were phosphorylated by poly(I:C) stimulation (Fig. 4A and 4B). Following this data, we examined the inhibitory effect of MAPK pathways in IL-8 production. The expression levels of IL-8 were decreased by the specific inhibitors - PD98059 (ERK1/2), SB202190 (p38), and SP600125 (JNK) in a dose-dependent manner. Among these inhibitors of MAPK pathways, SB202190 most effectively diminished IL-8 secretion (Fig. 4C). In these results, we suggest that IL-8 expression induced by poly(I:C) is related to the phosphorylation of MAPK signaling pathways.















(**C**)







Figure 4. Inhibition of MAPK pathways decreased IL-8 expression induced by poly(I:C) stimulation. BEAS-2B cells were stimulated with 5µg/mL poly(I:C) for multiple time points. (A) Phosphorylation of MAPK signaling pathways by poly(I:C) was detected by western blot analysis. (B) Densitometric analysis of p-ERK 1/2 (top), p-p38 (middle), and p-JNK (bottom) was performed by Image J software. (C) The expression levels of IL-8 in cell supernatants were analyzed by ELISA. The specific inhibitors for ERK 1/2 (top), p38 (middle), and JNK (bottom) were pre-incubated for 30 min and stimulated with 5µg/mL poly(I:C) for 12 hr. The data represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of at least three independent experiments. \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\* P < 0.001 comparison between control group and poly(I:C) stimulated groups.  $\dagger P < 0.05$ ,  $\dagger \dagger P < 0.01$ ,  $\dagger \dagger \dagger P < 0.001$  comparison between the groups treated with inhibitors and poly(I:C) and the groups treated with poly(I:C) alone. Poly(I:C), Polyinosinic : polycytidylic acid; P, phosphorylation; T, total; ERK 1/2, extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; IL-8, interleukin-8; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.



# 5. CHI3L1 regulates phosphorylation of MAPK pathways induced by poly(I:C) stimulation

In our above observations, MAPK pathways are phosphorylated by poly(I:C) stimulation and regulate the expression of IL-8. Moreover, the interaction between CHI3L1 and MAPK pathways has been revealed in previous studies<sup>26,35,36</sup>. Therefore, we hypothesized that CHI3L1 regulates IL-8 secretion induced by poly(I:C) stimulation through mediating the phosphorylation of MAPK pathways. To investigate our hypothesis, we stimulated poly(I:C) to control cells or CHI3L1 knock-down cells and compared the phosphorylation of MAPK pathways. In control cells, phosphorylation of ERK 1/2, p38, and JNK was observed as non-transfected BEAS-2B cells shown in Fig. 4A. However, the phosphorylation of the MAPK pathways by poly(I:C) stimulation was significantly abrogated in CHI3L1 knock-down cells. These results suggest that CHI3L1 regulates phosphorylation of MAPK signaling pathways which mediates IL-8 secretion during the viral infections of bronchial epithelial cells.









Figure 5. CHI3L1 deficiency diminished phosphorylation of MAPK pathways induced by poly(I:C) stimulation. BEAS-2B cells transfected with control shRNA (sh-control) or CHI3L1 shRNA (sh-CHI3L1) were stimulated with 5µg/mL poly(I:C) for multiple time points. (A) The phosphorylation of MAPK pathways – ERK 1/2, p38, and JNK was analyzed by western blot analysis. (B) Densitometric analysis of p-ERK 1/2 (top), p-p38 (middle), and p-JNK (bottom) was performed by Image J software. The data represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of at least three independent experiments. \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001 comparison between sh-control cells treated with media and poly(I:C). † *P* < 0.05 time-matched comparison between poly(I:C) treated sh-control cells and sh-CHI3L1 cells. shRNA, short hairpin RNA; CHI3L1, chitinase 3-like 1; Poly(I:C), Polyinosinic : polycytidylic acid; P, phosphorylation; T, total; ERK 1/2, extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase.



### 6. The expressions of CHI3L1 and IL-8 are elevated by RSV infection in BEAS-2B cells

We showed that the expression levels of CHI3L1 and IL-8 were induced by poly(I:C) stimulation. To investigate whether CHI3L1 and IL-8 are induced by RSV infection of bronchial epithelial cells, BEAS-2B cells were infected with RSV at MOI of 0.1. As shown in Fig. 6A and 6B, RSV infection significantly increased expression levels of CHI3L1 and IL-8 in a time-dependent manner, which is similar to poly(I:C) stimulation (Fig. 6A and 6B). Therefore, we demonstrated that the expressions of CHI3L1 and IL-8 in bronchial epithelial cells are also induced by RSV infection, which is comparable to that of synthetic dsRNA stimulation.



(A)







Figure 6. The expressions of CHI3L1 and IL-8 are increased in RSV infected BEAS-2B cells. BEAS-2B cells were infected with RSV at MOI of 0.1, and cells were harvested at the end of multiple time points. (A), (B) The expression levels of (A) CHI3L1 and (B) IL-8 in cell supernatants were detected by ELISA. The data represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of the three independent experiments. \* *P* < 0.05, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001 comparison between media treated control groups and time-matched RSV infected groups. CHI3L1, chitinase 3-like 1; RSV, respiratory syncytial virus; MOI, multiplicity of infection; IL-8, interleukin-8; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.



#### 7. CHI3L1 is involved in RSV induced IL-8 secretion

As shown in Figure 6, the infection with RSV increased expression of CHI3L1 and IL-8, which is consistent with poly(I:C) stimulation. Finally, we investigated the relation between CHI3L1 and IL-8 in RSV infection using shRNA transfected BEAS-2B cells. The shRNA transfected BEAS-2B cells were infected with RSV at MOI of 0.1 and the expression levels of CHI3L1 and IL-8 were analyzed. We confirmed that CHI3L1 expression levels were also increased by RSV infection in control cells (Fig. 7A). Interestingly, IL-8 expression levels induced by RSV infection were diminished in CHI3L1 knock-down BEAS-2B cells, compared to the control cells (Fig. 7B). In these results, we demonstrated that CHI3L1 regulates IL-8 expression induced by RSV infection in bronchial epithelial cells.



(A)









Figure 7. CHI3L1 deficiency diminished IL-8 expression induced by RSV infection. Cells transfected with either control shRNA or CHI3L1 shRNA were infected with RSV at MOI of 0.1. (A), (B) The expression levels of (A) CHI3L1 and (B) IL-8 in cell supernatants were analyzed by ELISA. The data represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of the three independent experiments. \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001 comparison between sh-control cells treated with media and infected with RSV. † *P* < 0.05, †† *P* < 0.01, ††† *P* < 0.001 time-matched comparison between RSV infected sh-control cells and sh-CHI3L1 cells. CHI3L1, chitinase 3-like 1; shRNA, short hairpin RNA; RSV, respiratory syncytial virus; MOI, multiplicity of infection; IL-8, interleukin-8; poly(I:C), ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay.



#### **IV. DISCUSSION**

In this study, we focused on the regulatory roles of CHI3L1 in IL-8 expression induced by viral infections of bronchial epithelial cells and demonstrated the following results. First, poly(I:C) stimulation results in the expression of CHI3L1 and pro-inflammatory cytokines in BEAS-2B cells. Poly(I:C) stimulation induces the phosphorylation of MAPK signaling pathways which are associated in the expression of IL-8. Second, CHI3L1 deficiency results in diminished IL-8 release induced by poly(I:C) stimulation. CHI3L1 deficiency abolished the phosphorylation of MAPK pathways compared to that in control cells. Finally, RSV infection results in the expression of CHI3L1 and IL-8 as in poly(I:C) stimulation. And CHI3L1 deficiency diminished IL-8 expression induced by RSV infection. Thus, we suggest that CHI3L1 regulates IL-8 expression induced by viral infections in bronchial epithelial cells.

In humans, CHI3L1 is secreted in various cells throughout the body, including inflammatory cells (e.g., neutrophils and macrophages) and structural cells (e.g., chondrocytes, tumor cells, endothelial cells, and epithelial cells)<sup>37-39</sup>. Chitinase 3-like 1 is known to be important in homeostasis. CHI3L1 regulates cell survival and proliferation and also has a mitogenic effect on human lung fibroblasts. Therefore CHI3L1 expression can be found in healthy subjects but increased in several diseases<sup>40</sup>. In the pathogenesis of CHI3L1, increased CHI3L1 mediates cell apoptosis, tumor metastasis, and inflammation<sup>26-28,35,41-43</sup>. Also, previous



studies demonstrated that CHI3L1 is related to lung function and respiratory diseases<sup>27,29,44</sup>. Furthermore, CHI3L1 expression is increased in airway epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages of RSV-infected C57BL/6 mice<sup>29</sup>. Based on these studies, we stimulated bronchial epithelial cells with synthetic viral dsRNA analog, poly(I:C), and RSV to explore the role of CHI3L1 in viral infection of airway epithelial cells. Our results revealed that CHI3L1 expression was elevated by both poly(I:C) stimulation and RSV infection of BEAS-2B cells. CHI3L1 deficiency results in diminished secretion of IL-8 induced by poly(I:C) or RSV infection. IL-8 induces airway inflammation and has been shown to be increased in patients with inflammatory lung diseases<sup>17-19</sup>. Previous studies demonstrated that blockade of IL-8 reduced neutrophil infiltration and tissue damage<sup>45,46</sup>. Taken together, we suggest that CHI3L1 may be a therapeutic target for the inflammation induced by respiratory viral infections<sup>29</sup>.

The mechanisms by which CHI3L1 regulates downstream signaling in viral infection have not been clearly elucidated. According to previous studies, it has shown that CHI3L1 combines with RAGE during inflammation<sup>47</sup>. Also, RAGE regulates the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines by altering the phosphorylation of MAPK pathways<sup>34</sup>. Therefore, we explored the interaction between CHI3L1 and RAGE in viral infections of bronchial epithelial cells. In our immunofluorescence study, we confirmed that poly(I:C) stimulation resulted in increased expression and co-localization of CHI3L1 and RAGE. This result



may suggest that increased CHI3L1 mediates the phosphorylation of the MAPK signaling pathway through RAGE, finally resulting in IL-8 secretion. In addition to RAGE, the receptors that bind with CHI3L1 are known as follows: Interleukin-13 receptor subunit alpha-2 (IL-13R $\alpha$ 2), galectin-3 (Gal-3), and chemoattractant receptor-homologous molecule expressed on Th2 cells (CRTH2)<sup>48-50</sup>. The interaction between CHI3L1 and other receptors in inflammation caused by viral infection needs to be further elucidated.

Airway epithelial cells are the first line of the innate immune system since exogenous antigens including viruses, bacteria, and pollens enter the airway through respiration<sup>51</sup>. Hence, in airway epithelial cells, there are numerous pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize exogenous antigens. The PRRs that recognized antigens can activate downstream signaling pathways which induce the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines. In this study, we have confirmed that pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines were increased by poly(I:C) stimulation in BEAS-2B cells. In addition, we showed the relation between IL-8 and MAPK signaling pathways using specific inhibitors of MAPK pathways. Interestingly, we revealed that SB202190, p38 MAPK inhibitor, most effectively suppressed poly(I:C) induced IL-8 secretion. Through these results, we suggest that airway epithelial cells which are infected with respiratory viruses can induce pro-inflammatory cytokines, and IL-8 expression was induced through MAPK signaling pathways.



In our study, we demonstrated that CHI3L1 deficiency diminished the phosphorylation of MAPK signaling pathways. Based on our observations, we suggest that CHI3L1 contributes to the phosphorylation of MAPK pathways which eventually mediates the expression of IL-8. In addition to MAPK pathways, NF-κB is also known as the regulator of inflammation against several stimuli. In previous *in vitro* studies, it has been demonstrated that the expression of proinflammatory cytokines by chitinase, German cockroach extract, and lipopolysaccharide in airway epithelial cells was induced via NF-κB pathways<sup>15,16,52</sup>. Moreover, recombinant CHI3L1 treatment to BEAS-2B cells induced IL-8 secretion via phosphorylation of NF-κB pathways<sup>36</sup>. For this reason, CHI3L1 is also expected to regulate inflammation through NF-κB pathway in bronchial epithelial cells. Therefore, the interaction between CHI3L1 and NF-κB in inflammation of the airway epithelial cells needs to be further elucidated.



#### **V. CONCLUSION**

In this study, we revealed that CHI3L1 secretion and pro-inflammatory cytokines are associated with inflammation of bronchial epithelial cells induced by viral infections. We also showed that CHI3L1 deficiency reduced IL-8 expression which is associated with the activation of MAPK signaling pathways. Therefore, CHI3L1 is involved in IL-8 expression by regulating activation of MAPK pathways during viral infections in bronchial epithelial cells.



#### REFERENCES

- Herrington CS, Coates PJ, Duprex WP. Viruses and disease: emerging concepts for prevention, diagnosis and treatment. J Pathol 2015;235:149-52.
- Puig C, Fríguls B, Gómez M, García-Algar Ó, Sunyer J, Vall O. Relationship between Lower Respiratory Tract Infections in the First Year of Life and the Development of Asthma and Wheezing in Children. Archivos de Bronconeumología (English Edition) 2010;46:514-21.
- Vandini S, Calamelli E, Faldella G, Lanari M. Immune and inflammatory response in bronchiolitis due to respiratory Syncytial Virus and Rhinovirus infections in infants. Paediatr Respir Rev 2017;24:60-4.
- Wark PAB, Ramsahai JM, Pathinayake P, Malik B, Bartlett NW. Respiratory Viruses and Asthma. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2018;39:45-55.
- Linden D, Guo-Parke H, Coyle PV, Fairley D, McAuley DF, Taggart CC, et al. Respiratory viral infection: a potential "missing link" in the pathogenesis of COPD. Eur Respir Rev 2019;28.
- Tang JW, Lam TT, Zaraket H, Lipkin WI, Drews SJ, Hatchette TF, et al. Global epidemiology of non-influenza RNA respiratory viruses: data gaps and a growing need for surveillance. Lancet Infect Dis



2017;17:e320-e6.

- 7. Hodinka RL. Respiratory RNA Viruses. Microbiol Spectr 2016;4.
- Behzadi MA, Leyva-Grado VH. Overview of Current Therapeutics and Novel Candidates Against Influenza, Respiratory Syncytial Virus, and Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus Infections. Front Microbiol 2019;10:1327.
- Troy NM, Bosco A. Respiratory viral infections and host responses; insights from genomics. Respir Res 2016;17:156.
- Matsukura S, Kokubu F, Kurokawa M, Kawaguchi M, Ieki K, Kuga H, et al. Synthetic double-stranded RNA induces multiple genes related to inflammation through Toll-like receptor 3 depending on NF-kappaB and/or IRF-3 in airway epithelial cells. Clin Exp Allergy 2006;36:1049-62.
- Guillot L, Le Goffic R, Bloch S, Escriou N, Akira S, Chignard M, et al. Involvement of toll-like receptor 3 in the immune response of lung epithelial cells to double-stranded RNA and influenza A virus. J Biol Chem 2005;280:5571-80.
- 12. Areshkov PO, Avdieiev SS, Balynska OV, Leroith D, Kavsan VM. Two closely related human members of chitinase-like family, CHI3L1 and CHI3L2, activate ERK1/2 in 293 and U373 cells but have the different influence on cell proliferation. Int J Biol Sci 2012;8:39-48.



- Kimura H, Yoshizumi M, Ishii H, Oishi K, Ryo A. Cytokine production and signaling pathways in respiratory virus infection. Front Microbiol 2013;4:276.
- Lever AR, Park H, Mulhern TJ, Jackson GR, Comolli JC, Borenstein JT, et al. Comprehensive evaluation of poly(I:C) induced inflammatory response in an airway epithelial model. Physiol Rep 2015;3.
- Lee KE, Kim JW, Jeong KY, Kim KE, Yong TS, Sohn MH. Regulation of German cockroach extract-induced IL-8 expression in human airway epithelial cells. Clin Exp Allergy 2007;37:1364-73.
- Hong JY, Lee KE, Kim KW, Sohn MH, Kim KE. Chitinase induce the release of IL-8 in human airway epithelial cells, via Ca2+-dependent PKC and ERK pathways. Scand J Immunol 2010;72:15-21.
- 17. Nocker RE, Schoonbrood DF, van de Graaf EA, Hack CE, Lutter R, Jansen HM, et al. Interleukin-8 in airway inflammation in patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1996;109:183-91.
- Pease JE, Sabroe I. The role of interleukin-8 and its receptors in inflammatory lung disease: implications for therapy. Am J Respir Med 2002;1:19-25.
- 19. McNamara PS, Flanagan BF, Hart CA, Smyth RL. Production of Chemokines in the Lungs of Infants with Severe Respiratory Syncytial



Virus Bronchiolitis. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 2005;191:1225-32.

- Przysucha N, Górska K, Krenke R. Chitinases and Chitinase-Like Proteins in Obstructive Lung Diseases - Current Concepts and Potential Applications. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2020;15:885-99.
- Kzhyshkowska J, Gratchev A, Goerdt S. Human chitinases and chitinaselike proteins as indicators for inflammation and cancer. Biomark Insights 2007;2:128-46.
- 22. Bleau G, Massicotte F, Merlen Y, Boisvert C. Mammalian chitinase-like proteins. Exs 1999;87:211-21.
- Schultz NA, Johansen JS. YKL-40-A Protein in the Field of Translational Medicine: A Role as a Biomarker in Cancer Patients? Cancers (Basel) 2010;2:1453-91.
- Volck B, Johansen JS, Stoltenberg M, Garbarsch C, Price PA, Ostergaard M, et al. Studies on YKL-40 in knee joints of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Involvement of YKL-40 in the joint pathology. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2001;9:203-14.
- 25. Vind I, Johansen JS, Price PA, Munkholm P. Serum YKL-40, a potential new marker of disease activity in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 2003;38:599-605.
- 26. Kim EG, Kim MN, Hong JY, Lee JW, Kim SY, Kim KW, et al. Chitinase



3-Like 1 Contributes to Food Allergy via M2 Macrophage Polarization. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res 2020;12:1012-28.

- 27. Chupp GL, Lee CG, Jarjour N, Shim YM, Holm CT, He S, et al. A chitinase-like protein in the lung and circulation of patients with severe asthma. N Engl J Med 2007;357:2016-27.
- Kwak EJ, Hong JY, Kim MN, Kim SY, Kim SH, Park CO, et al. Chitinase
  3-like 1 drives allergic skin inflammation via Th2 immunity and M2
  macrophage activation. Clin Exp Allergy 2019;49:1464-74.
- 29. Kim MJ, Shim DH, Cha HR, Moon KY, Yang CM, Hwang SJ, et al. Chitinase 3-like 1 protein plays a critical role in respiratory syncytial virus-induced airway inflammation. Allergy 2019;74:685-97.
- Kamle S, Ma B, He CH, Akosman B, Zhou Y, Lee CM, et al. Chitinase
  3-like-1 is a Therapeutic Target That Mediates the Effects of Aging in COVID-19. bioRxiv 2021.
- 31. Lee CG, Hartl D, Lee GR, Koller B, Matsuura H, Da Silva CA, et al. Role of breast regression protein 39 (BRP-39)/chitinase 3-like-1 in Th2 and IL-13-induced tissue responses and apoptosis. J Exp Med 2009;206:1149-66.
- 32. Holmgaard DB, Mygind LH, Titlestad IL, Madsen H, Pedersen SS, Johansen JS, et al. Plasma YKL-40 and all-cause mortality in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. BMC Pulmonary Medicine



2013;13:77.

- Arthur JS, Ley SC. Mitogen-activated protein kinases in innate immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 2013;13:679-92.
- 34. Lee H, Lee J, Hong SH, Rahman I, Yang SR. Inhibition of RAGE Attenuates Cigarette Smoke-Induced Lung Epithelial Cell Damage via RAGE-Mediated Nrf2/DAMP Signaling. Front Pharmacol 2018;9:684.
- 35. Kim MN, Lee KE, Hong JY, Heo WI, Kim KW, Kim KE, et al. Involvement of the MAPK and PI3K pathways in chitinase 3-like 1regulated hyperoxia-induced airway epithelial cell death. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2012;421:790-6.
- 36. Tang H, Sun Y, Shi Z, Huang H, Fang Z, Chen J, et al. YKL-40 induces IL-8 expression from bronchial epithelium via MAPK (JNK and ERK) and NF-kappaB pathways, causing bronchial smooth muscle proliferation and migration. J Immunol 2013;190:438-46.
- 37. Ringsholt M, Høgdall EV, Johansen JS, Price PA, Christensen LH. YKL40 protein expression in normal adult human tissues--an immunohistochemical study. J Mol Histol 2007;38:33-43.
- Johansen JS. Studies on serum YKL-40 as a biomarker in diseases with inflammation, tissue remodelling, fibroses and cancer. Dan Med Bull 2006;53:172-209.
- 39. Matsuura H, Hartl D, Kang MJ, Dela Cruz CS, Koller B, Chupp GL, et



al. Role of breast regression protein-39 in the pathogenesis of cigarette smoke-induced inflammation and emphysema. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 2011;44:777-86.

- 40. Ober C, Chupp GL. The chitinase and chitinase-like proteins: a review of genetic and functional studies in asthma and immune-mediated diseases. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2009;9:401-8.
- 41. Sohn MH, Kang MJ, Matsuura H, Bhandari V, Chen NY, Lee CG, et al. The chitinase-like proteins breast regression protein-39 and YKL-40 regulate hyperoxia-induced acute lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2010;182:918-28.
- 42. Libreros S, Iragavarapu-Charyulu V. YKL-40/CHI3L1 drives inflammation on the road of tumor progression. J Leukoc Biol 2015;98:931-6.
- 43. Zhao T, Su Z, Li Y, Zhang X, You Q. Chitinase-3 like-protein-1 function and its role in diseases. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2020;5:201.
- 44. Kunz LI, van't Wout EF, van Schadewijk A, Postma DS, Kerstjens HA, Sterk PJ, et al. Regulation of YKL-40 expression by corticosteroids: effect on pro-inflammatory macrophages in vitro and its modulation in COPD in vivo. Respir Res 2015;16:154.
- 45. Haringman JJ, Tak PP. Chemokine blockade: a new era in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis? Arthritis Res Ther 2004;6:93.



- Harada A, Sekido N, Akahoshi T, Wada T, Mukaida N, Matsushima K.
  Essential involvement of interleukin-8 (IL-8) in acute inflammation. J
  Leukoc Biol 1994;56:559-64.
- 47. Low D, Subramaniam R, Lin L, Aomatsu T, Mizoguchi A, Ng A, et al. Chitinase 3-like 1 induces survival and proliferation of intestinal epithelial cells during chronic inflammation and colitis-associated cancer by regulating S100A9. Oncotarget 2015;6:36535-50.
- Lee CM, He CH, Nour AM, Zhou Y, Ma B, Park JW, et al. IL-13Rα2 uses TMEM219 in chitinase 3-like-1-induced signalling and effector responses. Nat Commun 2016;7:12752.
- 49. Zhou Y, He CH, Herzog EL, Peng X, Lee CM, Nguyen TH, et al. Chitinase 3-like-1 and its receptors in Hermansky-Pudlak syndromeassociated lung disease. J Clin Invest 2015;125:3178-92.
- 50. Zhou Y, He CH, Yang DS, Nguyen T, Cao Y, Kamle S, et al. Galectin-3 Interacts with the CHI3L1 Axis and Contributes to Hermansky-Pudlak Syndrome Lung Disease. J Immunol 2018;200:2140-53.
- Kato A, Schleimer RP. Beyond inflammation: airway epithelial cells are at the interface of innate and adaptive immunity. Curr Opin Immunol 2007;19:711-20.
- 52. J. Verspohl E, Podlogar J. LPS-Induced Proliferation and Chemokine Secretion from BEAS-2B Cells. Pharmacology & amp; Pharmacy



2012;03:166-77.



#### **ABSTRACT (IN KOREAN)**

### 인체 기도 상피 세포의 IL-8 발현에서 Chitinase 3-like 1의 역할

<지도교수 손 명 현>

연세대학교 대학원 의과학과

#### 이 재 우

배경: 호흡기 바이러스는 여러 호흡기 질환을 유발하거나 악화시키는 원인 중 하나이다. 호흡을 통해 들어온 호흡기 바이러스는 기도 상피 세포를 감염시키고, 인터루킨-8 분비를 유도하여 폐 염증을 유발한다. Chitinase 3-like 1 (CHI3L1)은 인간에서는 YKL-40, 쥐에서는 BRP-39 으로, 여러 염증성 질환과 연관이 있지만 그중에서도 폐 염증 및 기능과의 상관관계가



밝혀지며 폐 기능의 바이오 마커로 알려진 물질이다. 최근 연구 결과, 여러 호흡기 바이러스 감염에 의한 염증 반응에 있어서 CHI3L1 과의 관련성이 규명되었다. 하지만 바이러스 감염에 의해 유도된 면역 반응에 있어서 CHI3L1 이 어떠한 역할을 하는지 밝혀진 바 없다. 따라서 본 연구에서, 기도 상피 세포의 호흡기 바이러스 감염으로 인해 유도된 인터루킨-8 의 발현에 있어서 CHI3L1의 역할을 규명하고자 하였다.

방법: 본 연구에서는 인위적으로 합성한 바이러스 리보핵산인 polyinosinic : polycytidylic acid (poly(I:C))을 기관지 상피 세포주인 BEAS-2B 세포에 처리하였고, CHI3L1 및 전염증성 사이토카인 발현, MAPK 신호 전달 경로를 분석하였다. 또한 유전 물질이 리보 핵산으로 구성된 호흡기세포융합바이러스를 BEAS-2B 세포에 감염시키고, CHI3L1과 인터루킨-8의 발현을 분석하였다.

결과: 대조군에 비해 poly(I:C)를 처리한 군에서 CHI3L1 및 전염증성 사이토카인의 발현 증가를 확인하였다. 반면 BEAS-2B 세포의 CHI3L1 발현을 억제하였을 때, poly(I:C)에 의한 인터루킨-8의 발현이 감소하는 것을 확인하였다. 또한, poly(I:C)에 의해 유도되는 인터루킨-8의 발현에 있어서 MAPK 신호 전달 경로가

55



관여하였음을 밝혔고, CHI3L1 유전자의 발현을 억제한 세포에서 야생형 세포에 비해 MAPK 신호 전달 경로의 활성화가 감소하는 것을 확인하였다. 이어서 호흡기세포융합바이러스에 감염된 BEAS-2B 세포에서, CHI3L1과 인터루킨-8의 발현이 poly(I:C) 자극과 비슷한 경향성을 나타내며 증가하였다. 마지막으로, BEAS-2B 세포의 CHI3L1 발현을 억제하였을 때 야생형 세포에 비해 호흡기세포융합바이러스 감염으로 인한 IL-8의 발현이 감소한 것을 확인하였다.

결론: 기도 상피 세포에서 CHI3L1이 호흡기 바이러스 감염으로 인한 인터루킨-8의 분비를 MAPK 신호 전달 경로의 활성화에 영향을 미침으로써 조절하는 역할을 밝혔다.

핵심되는 말: 기도 상피 세포, chitinase 3-like 1, 인터루킨-8, MAPK 신호 전달 경로, 호흡기세포융합바이러스